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1. Name of Property 

historic name Beckwith, Nelson F., House

other names/site number

2. Location

street & number_179 East Huron Street 

city, town_____Berlin _______.___.._

state Wisconsin code Wl

N/A not for publicati.on 

N/A vicinity_______

code 047 zip code 54923

3. Classification

Ownership of Property

X private 

__ public-local 

__ public-State 

__ public-Federal

Category of Property

__ building(s)

_X district

__ site

__ structure

__ object

Name of related multiple property listing:

_____________N/A_______________

No. of Kesources within Property 

contributing noncontributing 

_!_ _1_ buildings 

__ __ sites 

__ __ structures 

__ __ objects 

1_ Total1

No. of contributing resources 
previously listed in the 
National Register _____Q______



4. State/Federal Agency Certification
A5 the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, 
as amended, I hereby certify that this X_nomination __request for determination 
of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the 
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional 
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. in my opinion, the property ^_meets 

_does notjneet the National Register criteria. __See continuation sheet.

ying official Dat 
c?!ist<5ric Preservation Officer- T7I

Statre or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property __meets __does not meet the National Register 
criteria. See continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5_._National Park Service Certification 
If hereby, certify that this property is:

_•_ entered in the National Register. 
S See continuation sheet

__ determined eligible for the National 
Register. __See continuation sheet

__ determined not eligible for the 
National Register.

__ removed trom the National Register. 

__other, (explain:) _____________

signature of the Keeper Date

6. Functions or Use
Historic Functions Current Functions
(enter categories from instructions) (enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/single dwelling_______ DQMESTIC/single dwelling_______



7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials 
(enter categories from instructions) (enter categories from instructions)

foundation STONE___
Italianate____________________ walls _____Weatherboard
Greek Revival___________________ ___________

roof ASPHALT
other WOOD

Cast Iron

Describe present and historic physical appearance. 

Description

This excellent two-story three-bay-wide frame residence is located at 179 E. Huron 
Street and is a highly intact transitional example of the Italianate style wnose 
earliest portion was built in 1858 for newly arrived saw mill owner and lumber 
dealer Nelson F. Beckwith and family. The Beckwiths nad previously lived in the 
nearby village of Omro, Wisconsin and their move to the upper Fox River community of 
Berlin coincided with the cresting of a population boom that had increased the local 
population from 250 in 1850 to 2800 in 1857, the year Berlin was officially 
incorporated as a city. 1 Much of this growth was due to Berlin's growing importance 
as a transportation hub and this importance was further enhanced in August of 1857 
when the tracks of the Milwaukee and Horicon Railroad were extended to Berlin from 
the nearby city of Kipon. Beckwith built his house in the newly created city in tne 
the following year and set himself up as a lumber dealer. In 1863, five years after 
building his house, Beckwith built a new Drick hotel in Berlin called the BecKwith 
House (extant but considerably altered) which ne then leased to others. Seven years 
later, in 1870, Beckwith sold out his various business interests in Berlin, having 
already sold his house to another saw mill owner, Solomon C. Harmon, in 1869. 
Harmon immediately built a orie-bay-wide two-story addition ot nearly identical 
design across the west-facing side elevation of the house's original two-bay-wide 
cupola-crowned main block, giving the building its present day appearance. k By 
then, Berlin had settled down to a more orderly pace of growth and by 1980 the city 
had a population of 5478 and a national reputation as the "Fur and Leather City" 
based on its having become a center of specialty clothing manufacturing.

The Beckwith house is one of the earliest of the many architecturally impressive 
houses constructed in the gently sloping neighborhood surrounding East Side Park 
(aka Nathan Strong Park), Berlin's oldest public space. This park was donated to 
the city by Nathan Strong (7-1852), the founder of Berlin, and consists of a single 
square block containing a band stand and an impressive war memorial and sculptural 
group known as the Soldiers and Sailors Monument. The park is bounded on the east 
by North Church Street, on the north by East Park Avenue, on the west by North State 
Street, and on the south by East Huron Street--the principal thorougnfare of the 
city of Berlin—and the Beckwith house is located directly across the street from 
the southwest corner of the park towards the rear of the large 140 foot by 140 foot 
double lot which forms the northwest corner of the intersection of East Huron Street 
and North State Street. This conspicuous corner location on East Huron Street 
directly across from one of the main entrances to East Side Park has made the 
Beckwith house one of Berlin's most visible local landmark.

1 Gillett, Lulubelle C. Early Houses in Berlin, Wisconsin. Worzaila Publishing 
Company, Stevens Point, Wisconsin, 1976, Pg. x.
2 Evidence of this addition can still be seen today in the vertical line on the main 
facade between the left and the middle bays that resulted from the meeting of the 
butt ends of the 1869 siding and the original siding.

X See continuation sheet
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The house is free-standing and its principal facade faces south onto East Huron 
Street. The house now has an L-shaped plan that consists ot a two-story rectilinear 
main block with overall dimensions measuring approximately 4b feet wide by 35 feet 
deep. A 22 foot wide by 26 foot deep one-and-a-half-story rectilinear ell known as 
"the north wing" is connected to the north-facing rear elevation. 3 The dimensions 
of today's main block, however, reflect the 1869 addition built by the Harmons. The 
original portion of the main block appears to have also been rectilinear in plan and 
was approximately 27 feet wide by 35 feet deep and each elevation was two-bays 
wide. The north wing was then located in the same position it now occupies but may 
have originally been freestanding and connected to the main block by a short 
hyphen. It is now attached to the rear of the north-facing elevation of that 
portion of the main block built by the Harmons.

The Beckwith house's exterior walls rest on cement-covered tieidstone foundation 
walls which enclose a crawlspace that underlies the entire nouse except for a 
portion under the northwest corner of the main block that consists of a small 10 
foot by 8 foot cellar of normal depth whose wails are also made of fieldstone. This 
cellar's position underneath that portion of the house added by the Harmons in 186y 
may indicate that it too was added at that time although its position would also 
have placed it just outside the kitchen wing constructed Dy the Beckwiths, in whicn 
case it may have originally been utilized as a root or storm cellar. The exterior 
walls that rest on these foundations still have their original, beautifully 
maintained weatherboard cladding throughout arid these walls are enframed by a system 
of corner pilasters, corner boards, water tables, and cornices; the complexity of 
whose design varies depending on whether one is discussing the main Dlock or the 
kitchen wing. All the exterior walls terminate in wide overhanging eaves which Dotn 
snelter tne walls themselves and support the asphalt shingle covered roots above. 
The roof of the main block is unusual. That part which covers the original portion 
consists ot a very snallowiy pitched nip root which nas a square plan cupola ot 
decidedly Italianate style design centered on it. When' the house was expanded by 
the Harmons, the same roof design was replicated and the pitch of the original 
slopes was respected but that portion in the center wnich would have been covered by 
a cupola was left as a flat deck adjacent to the original cupola, and this deck is 
encircled by wrought iron cresting. In keeping with its subordinate status, the 
roof of the kitchen wing has a simple gable form whose ridgeline runs north-south 
and is lower in height than the cornice of the main block.

The south-facing East Huron street facade is the principal elevation of the Beckwith 
house and the main entrance to the building is placed in a projecting vestibule in 
the center bay of this three-bay-wide composition. This facade is rectangular in 
shape and is asymmetrical in appearance with the wider left-hand bay being the one 
added by the Harmons in 1869. The facade is enframed by plain corner pilasters at 
either end that are topped with simple capitals, and also by a wide, transitional

3 Letter from Mrs. Helen Harmon Taylor to Mrs. Virginia S. Walker. July 20, 1948. 
In the possession of Mrs. Walker.
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design bracketed wooden cornice above. This cornice has as its model a classically 
composed entablature and has a simple architrave at its base which is then separated 
from the wider but equally simple frieze above it by a band molding strip. This 
portion of the entablature is then terminated by a band oi denticulated blocks. A 
wide overhanging cornice with panelled soffits shelters the frieze and architrave 
below and the cornice itself is of three-part construction and is terminated by a 
crown molding. Six pairs of elaborately scroll-sawn sandwich brackets are then 
affixed at regular intervals along the length of tne face of the frieze and appear 
to support the cornice above.

The most prominent feature of this facade is the combination flat rooted entrance 
vestibule and front porch salient that covers the middle and right-hand Days of tne 
tirst floor. The vestibule is approximately « feet wide ana b feet deep and light 
is admitted into both it and the entrance hall beyond by a system of windows placed 
in and around the single south-facing entrance door. The door has a large single 
light filled with pieces of clear beveled plate glass set in an elaborate geometric 
pattern that are held in place by metal cames. it is flanked Dy similarly tilled 
sidelights and these chree elements are ail surmounted by a broad, segmentally 
arched transom light wftich is also filled in the same manner as the other windows. 4 
The door, its surrounding windows, and their frames are ail treated as a unit that 
is inset approximately 1 foot into the vestibule and the reveals of this flat-arched 
recess are panelled in the same manner as the soffits of the roof cornice. Paired 
pilasters flank both sides of this recess and the outermost pilaster of eacn pair is 
a corner pilaster that wraps around the corner of the vestibule. These pilasters 
have tall pedestals, chamfered shafts, and stylized non-traditional capitals and 
that portion of the main wall of the vestibule visible between the individual 
pilasters of each pair contains a tail, thin panel that has been recessed into the 
main wall. A small, narrow side door having a segmentally arched head is placed at 
the rear of both the east and the west-facing sides of the vestibule. Each of these 
doors has a single panel placed below a tall, segmental-ly arched single light which 
is filled witn the same clear, geometrically patterned Develed plate glass that is 
used in the front door and there is also a pilaster attached to the wall on the 
southerly (outermost) side of each door which is identical in design to those that 
flank the entrance door. The vestibule is then surmounted Dy a bracketed cornice 
wnose frieze is decorated with a frieze band with a repeated scallop motif along the 
lower edge.

To the right of the vestibule is an equally deep screened porch that covers the 
remainder of the right-hand portion of the first floor of the main facade and also

4 While the beveled glass that fills the various window in the entrance vestibule is 
clearly newer than the house itself, it predates the period of ownership of the 
present owners who acquired the house in 1944. Such glass was available trorn many 
sources before and after the turn-of-the-century and its incorporation into the 
Beckwith house may date from that period.
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shelters the tall pair of French doors with transom lights above that are centered 
in the right-hand bay of the first floor and that admit light into the main living 
room of the house. This porch has a raised concrete pad floor and its flat roof is 
supported by two free-standing posts that are identical in design to the pilasters 
that flanK the entrance door and the post that supports the corner of the porch is 
also doubled by a similar pilaster wnich is placed directly behind it on the main 
wall of the house. The cornice of the porch roof is now a continuation of the 
cornice of the vestibule and is identical to it in design. This porch is a later 
modification of a smaller one of very similar design that originally occupied the 
same position. Sanborn-Perris maps show that this earlier porch had the same 
dimensions as the bay window which makes up the first floor of the bay to the left 
of the entrance vestibule and that it was attached to the vestibule in a similar 
manner. Later, between 1911 and 1926, this porch was enlarged to its present size 
using the structural and decorative elements of the original and such additions to 
the length of the cornice as were necessary to accommodate the revised dimensions.-

The first floor of the left-hand bay on the main facade consists of a large one- 
story-tall flat-roofed bay window of rectilinear plan that measures approximately j 
feet deep by 12 feet wide. Light enters the bay and the dining room of tne house 
behind it through two pairs of tail, thin one-over-one light double-hung windows 
facing south and through single windows of identical design located on the east and 
west-facing sides ot tne Day. A simple rectilinear panel is recessed into tne face 
of the bay just below each window and the detailing of the Day is identical in 
design with that of the vestibule and features individual pilasters positioned on 
either side ot each window with the outermost two being corner pilasters that wrap 
around the corners of the bay. Tne cornice ot tne Day is identical to tnat used on 
the vestiDule and it and the roof ot the bay are extended across tne space Detween 
the bay and tne vestibule, creating a covered recess between tne two.

The left-hand bay of the second floor of tne main facade contains a paired group of 
tall flat-arched one-over-one light double-hung windows that light tne master 
bedroom of the house. The pair is topped oy a simple crown whicn imitates the 
uppermost portions of the main cornice above. The middle Day and the right-hand bay 
both contain identical French windows, each of whose two three-light halves opens 
inward. The middle window lights the second floor hall while the right-hand window 
lights a bedroom. Each of these two windows is topped by simple crown identical to 
that used above the paired group in the left-hand bay and all three windows are of 
equal height and have louvered shutters although only those shutters Delonging to 
the middle and right-hand bays are functional.

* Sanborn-Perris Fire Insurance Maps of Berlin, Wisconsin. Sanborn-Perris Map 
Company, New York, New York, 1895, 1905, 1911, and 1926. Mention of this change is 
also made in a letter to Mrs. Virginia s. Walker from Mrs. Helen Harmon Taylor dated 
October 3, 1948. Mrs. Taylor lived in the Beckwith house between 1899 and 1912 and 
this letter is in the possession of Mrs. Walker.
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The main facade is surmounted by the asphalt shingle-covered hip roof that covers 
the main block of the house. The slopes of the hipped portion ot this roof have a 
very low pitch and the roof is then topped by a broad deck whose most prominent 
feature is the asymmetrically placed square plan Italianate style wooden cupola that 
is centered between the middle and right-hand bays of the main facade. This cupola 
also has a hipped roof and it is completely original. Each of its tour sides 
consists of a triple group of one-over-one light douole-hung windows whose upper 
sash has a semi-circular arched light. Each individual window has its own semi­ 
circular-arched drip mold and the windows are then surmounted by a bracketed and 
denticulated cornice which is a scaled down version ot the main cornice ot tne 
house. The cupola's cornices are identical in design to those below except that 
they use smaller scroll-sawn paired brackets made out ot single thicknesses ot wood 
instead of ones made out of sandwiched construction such as are found on tne main 
cornice. An unusual feature of this cupola is the use 01 brackets at trie corners of 
the base of the structure. These brackets are attacned co Doth tne main roor and to 
the walls ot tne cupola and they are placed directly below the similar pairs ot 
brackets in the cornice. The remainder of tne deck portion ot the main roof is 
enclosed by wrought iron cresting which was added to the root between 1899 and

The east-facing side elevation of tne main Dlock 01 the nouse is two-bays wide ana 
is enframed by the same corner pilasters and cornice found on the main facade. This 
elevation faces towards the park and the lett-nana nay on tne first tioor contains a 
single tall pair ot flat-arched Frencn doors surmounted by a transom light above, 
which light the main living room of the house. Kacn door opens inward and contains 
three lights and the entire unit of doors and transom is surmounted by the same 
simple crown which imitates the uppermost: portions ot the main cornice above. The 
window in the second floor ot this bay is identical with that below except that it 
lacks the transom lights. An identical window occupies the second floor of the 
right-hand bay. Both of these windows light bedrooms. • The first floor of the right- 
nand bay of this elevation is covered by a fine tive-sided polygonal flat-roofed 
wooden bay window that was probably added when the riarmons bought the house in 
1869. v The two innermost faces ot this Day window ooth contain a single one-light 
casement window that is surmounted by a fixed semi-circular arched transom light. 
The three remaining faces each contain paired one-light casement windows, each pair 
of which is surmounted by a large, fixed single-light segmental arched transom 
light. A bracketed cornice encircles the bay above the windows and a single

0 Letter from Mrs. Helen Harmon Tayior to Mrs. Virginia s. Walker. October 3, 
1948. In the possession of Mrs. Walker.
7 This assertion is conjectural. The earliest rendering ot tne Beckwith nouse 
uncovered in the course of this research is shown on the bird's eye view of the City 
of Berlin printed in 1867. This view illustrates the house just before its purchase 
by the Harmons and shows it in its original two-bay-wide stace and also depicts tne 
cupola but it does not show the east-facing Day.
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recessed panel is placed below each window or group of windows. All ot the windows 
on this facade excepting the bay window have operable iouvered shutters and these 
are identical to the ones found on the main facade. There is also a tall red brick 
chimney placed on the main root between the two Days which exhausts the living room 
fireplace.

The west-facing side elevation ot the main block ol the rieckwith house is three-bays 
wide and is asymmetrical in composition, unlike tne two-bay-wide east-facing 
elevation, and it is enframed DV the same corner pilasters ana cornice usea on the 
main facade. The middle and tne right-hand bays are separated by a call red brick 
chimney mass built in 1951 that pierces the main cornice and exhausts the dining 
room fireplace and the furnace. Both the right-hand bay and the middle bay on the 
first floor each contains a single tali pair of flat-arched French doors, surmounted 
by a transom light aDove, and both of these pairs ot doors lignt the dining room of 
the house. Each door opens inward and contains three lights and the entire unit of 
doors and transom is surmounted by the same simple crown which imitates the 
uppermost portions ot the main cornice above. A single window is placed in the 
second floor of each ot these bays and both admit light to the master bedroom. 
These windows are similar in height and width to those round elsewnere on the second 
floor of the main block but they consist of single two-over-two light double-hung 
windows instead of the French doors tound elsewhere. The first tloor of the left- 
hand bay contains a small paired group of later double-hung windows which is 
surmounted by the same simple crown as tne rest of the windows on the main block and 
the second floor of this bay contains a thinner but equally tall version of tne 
other double-hung second floor windows on this elevation.

The rear or north-facing elevation of tne main block is three-Days wide and is also 
asymmetrical in composition and it is entrained by the same corner pilasters and 
cornice used on the main tacade. The left-hand bay features the same fenestration 
pattern found elsewhere on the original portion of the main block with the first 
floor having a pair ot tail three-light French doors with transom lights above that 
in this case nelp to light the living room. The second tloor has a pair oi. tnree- 
light French doors without tne transom lignt above that nelp to lignt a bedroom. 
The second floor ot tne middle Day contains a window identical to that in the 
adjacent left-hand bay and tnis window lights tne second floor Dathroom. Neither of 
these windows are as tall as those on the tront and east-lacing elevations. The 
first floor ot the middle bay contains a large, later triple window group that 
lights the den of tne house. Tnis window group features three, three-over-one light 
double-hung windows, each one of which has a small three-light transom window above 
it. Both the first and second tloors of tne right-hand bay of this elevation are 
covered by what would be the south-facing elevation of the attached one-and-a-nalf- 
story north wing of the house.
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The north wing (aka Kitchen wing) of the Beckwith house is a one-and-a-half-story, 
rectilinear plan, 22 toot wide by 26 toot deep ell, which is surmounted by a gable 
roof whose ridgeline runs north-south and whose single visible gable end faces 
north. This ell is also sided in weatherboard and each of the three visible 
elevations is enframed by simple corner boards, water table boards, and by wide 
fascia boards placed just below the broad, overhanging eaves of the roof. The east- 
facing facade of this ell is three-bays-wide and is asymmetrical in composition. 
The first floor of the left-hand bay contains a later pair of three-over-two light 
double-hung windows that light the main kitchen of the house. The first floor of 
the middle bay contains an entrance door having a six-light window in its upper half 
and this door is sheltered by a fine open entrance porch whose hip root is supported 
by two chamfered shafts that have raised pedestals and capitals as decoration. The 
space between each porch shaft and the main wall behind it is filled oy a wooden 
slat-backed bench of a later date than the rest ot the porch. The first floor ot 
the right-hand bay contains a window that lights a bathroom and this window nas a 
simple eared trame and the window itself consists of a clear rectilinear pane 
surrounded by a frame composed ot smaller rectilinear panes of colored glass. Two 
small two-light rectilinear windows similar to eyebrow windows are placed in the 
halt story above the first floor on this tacaae and these windows are positioned 
over tne first floor windows in tne left ana tne rignL-hand Days and light tne 
second floor storage room.

The rear or north-facing facade of the north winy is asymmetrical in composition ana 
contains a six-over-six light window placed in the center ot the gaoie end that 
lights a storage room inside. An identical window is placed slightly off center on 
the first floor just below and another window ot the same design is placed on the 
right-hand edge of this facade. Both of tnese windows light the old summer kitchen 
of the house. The first floor windows flank an eight-panel rear door located 
between the windows which is surmounted by a tour-light transom window.

The west-facing facade of the north wing is also asymmetrical in composition and is 
three-bays-wide. Each bay differs in width and the first floor ot tne left-hand Day 
contains a paneled door that is sheltered by a fine wooden hipped-root entrance 
hood. This hood has a wide fascia surmounted by a multi-part cornice identical to 
the one that crowns the cornice of the main roof of the wing and it is supported by 
two large elaborately scroll-sawn brackets that tiank the door opening. A small two- 
light rectilinear window similar to an eyebrow window is placed in the half story 
just above the door and an identical window is placed in the halt story above the 
tail eight-light window that fills the first floor ot the right-hand bay and lights 
an office room inside. There is also an identical eight-light window placed between 
the door and the other window in the first floor ot the middle bay. Because the 
westerly edge of this wing projects beyond the west-facing wall ot tne main block of 
the house, a small, thin one-over-one light window has been placed on the first 
floor of the exposed portion of the south-facing wall of the wing immediately 
adjacent to the main block.
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Each of the four owners of the Beckwith house has altered the interior of the house 
to some degree although most of the changes to the main block occurred shortly after 
the Harmons took possession in 1869. The original floorplan of the first floor of 
the main block consisted of a long, narrow entrance hall on the westerly, left-hand 
side of the block. To the north, behind this hall, was another room and two parlors 
were ranged along the entire eastern side of the block. After the Harmons purchased 
the property the partition between the front and back parlors was removed and a new 
two-story addition was added across the entire west side of the block. The first 
floor of this addition contained a new dining room just to the left of the entrance 
hall, and a new serving pantry was added just behind, and to the north of the dining 
room. All of the rooms that resulted from this remodeling are still intact today. 
The only significant changes later owners made involved building in several pieces 
of very fine carved furniture into the living room and den and replacing the 
original first floor mantlepieces and ceiling lighting fixtures with later examples.

The interior of the Beckwith house still contains most of those architectural and 
decorative elements which make the interior of this house one of Berlin's best 
examples of the Italianate style. Entrance to the interior is gained by passing 
through the already described outside entrance door into the vestibule which, as a 
result of the 1869 remodeling, had assumed a central position on the main facade. 
The inner vestibule door is made of heavy wood construction and has two tall, thin 
plate glass lights placed above a paneled lower portion. Both lights are made of 
clear glass and are decorated with an elaborately etched vase and flower pattern as 
is the rectilinear transom light above the door. The rectangular entrance hall 
beyond is approximately 20 feet deep and 10 feet wide and the ceilings here and 
elsewhere on the first floor are 10% feet tall. The main staircase is placed along 
the left-hand side of this hall and ascends in a straight flight to a radiating 
termination at the top of the run. To the immediate left of the entrance door is 
another paneled door that opens into a coat closet framed into the enclosed space 
beneath the stairs. This closet was added between 1929 and 1944 and it replaced a 
tall niche that was originally used to display an appropriately large piece of 
statuary. 8 The balustrade of the staircase begins from a large turned and tapered 
newel post and continues in an uninterrupted flight upwards and around the open well 
of the stairs before terminating against the west wall of the second floor hall. 
This balustrade is composed of tall, thin taper-top balusters which support the 
traditionally styled wooden handrail. Elaborately scroll-sawn decorative brackets 
are placed under the returned nosings of the open string stairs. The wide baseboard 
that encircles the base of the walls in the entrance hall is original and is just 
over 1 foot tall and it is echoed by the crown moldings above. The ceiling light 
fixture was added between 1929 and 1944 and hangs from the hall's original plaster 
circular pattern ceiling rosette. The hall furniture was brought to the house by 
the current occupants and is appropriate both in size and design. €

8 Letter from Mrs. Helen Harmon Taylor to Mrs. Virginia S. Walker. July 20, 1948. 
In the possession of Mrs. Walker.
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Two large floor-to-ceiling height semi-circuiar-arched tour-panel pocket doors are 
placed racing each other on the right (east) and the left (west) walls at the north 
end of the hall. Structural considerations precluded the use of the double pocket 
doors which more typically fill openings of. this size so both doors were made in one 
piece instead. Each door has a semi-circuiar-arched opening enframed by wide 
moldings similar to those used in the baseboard ot the hall arid the right-hand door 
opens into the 35-foot-long by 15-foot-wide living room. This room has been altered 
twice since the house was built. The major remodeling occurred when the Harmon 
family bought the house from the Beckwiths in 1869 and the room was later 
redecorated when the Scobie family bought the house from the Harrnons in 1929. 
Originally, this space consisted of two smaller rooms but the Harmons removed the 
partition between them in 1869 in order to create this space. The unequal size ot 
these original rooms is still evident. The west wall of the living room on the left 
side of the entrance door opening projects approximately one loot deeper into the 
room than the corresponding wail on tne right side and the resulting corner ot this 
projection makes a 90- quarter-round turn immediately to the left of the entrance 
door. Tali pairs of French doors are centered on the north and south wails ot tne 
room and an identical pair, is placed to the rignt of the living room tirepiace which 
is located on the east wail ot the room directly opposite the entrance door 
opening. Originally, there was also another pair of Frericn doors to tne leit of tne 
fireplace but these were removed by tne Harmons in lbb9 ana replaced .oy the deep 
polygonal bay window that now occupies the same position.

The tali ceiling and French doors of the itaiianate style room the Harmons occupied 
already had a somewhat "French" appearance which was emphasized in tne reciecoration 
the room received shortly after tne Scobie tamiiy bought tne nouse in 1929. The 
most obvious sign of this redecoration is the excellent white marble mantelpiece 
that now decorates the room's fireplace. With its classically inspired design, its 
finely carved supporting console brackets below the mantelshelf, and its tiat-arched 
opening, this mantelpiece is distinctively French in appearance and it replaced the 
earlier mantelpiece in use when the b'cobies bougnt; the house.* The Scobie family 
also made other changes to the living room besides replacing the original 
mantelpiece. The mirrored overmantel also dates from the 1929 remodeling as do the 
pair of built-in bookcases that flank the French doors on the north wail. These

* This mantelpiece and another one in the dining room were added oy Mrs. Florence 
Case Scobie who purchased the house with her husband, Fred Scobie, in 1929 and lived 
there until 1944 when the present owners bought the building. Both mantelpieces and 
other items in the house such as the built-in bookcases that flank the window at the 
north end of the living room are believed to have come rrom the Gallun tamiiy 
mansion in Milwaukee. Mrs. Scobie's sister was Helen Case Gallun who in 1929 was 
the widow of Arthur Gallun, a member of the tamiiy that operated the Trostei & 
Gailun tannery (NRHP 1984) and the A. F. Gailun Co. tannery in Milwaukee. Mrs. 
Gallun is known to have been active in helping her sister restore and remodel the 
Beckwith house and she is believed to have made some ot the furnishings from the 
Milwaukee house available to her sister.
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bookcases are identical and are half as tall as the room and each is surmounted by a 
simplified entablature having a carved vine motif attixed to the frieze panel. The 
walls of the living room were also altered to create a more tormal appearance. 
These walls are made ot a very hard, smooth piaster whim the Scobies nad covered 
with a fine linen canvas, as they did all the other unpapered walls in tne main 
blocK ot the house. Afterwards, thin strips of wood molding were applied to the 
walls in such a way as to form rectilinear patterns suggestive of the raised molding 
found on the simplest wood-paneled walls.-LU A cnair rail was also added to the 
walls and the crown molding was somewhat reduced in size. Finally, an earlier 
light fixture placed in the center of tne ceiling was replaced with the tine crystaJ 
chandelier that is still in place today. Fortunately, the Scooies retained tne 
elaborately pierced metal rosette set in a circular piaster surround that tne 
original cnandelier dung from. This remodeling resulted in a room tnat is formal in 
leeling without oeing overly elaborate in design.

A smaller, flat-arched doorway is located on tne west; wall of the living room to tne 
left ot the principal entrance and opens into a small, rectilinear plan room located 
behind and to the north of the entrance hall. When tne Harmon family owned the 
Mouse this room was called the nursery and it was used as a bedroom and playroom for 
children. Since the Scobie family acquired the house this room has been used as a 
combination liDrary and den Decause it contains tne very une carved bookcase and an 
equally fine desk that Mrs. Scobie had built into tne room after she acquired them 
from Mrs. Gallun. The elaborately carved German Renaissance Revival style fall- 
front desk is now attached to the wall on the northerly side of the door opening 
that leads into the living room. The equally elaborate but stylistically less well 
defined ceiling height bookcase is placed diagonally across from the desk on the 
west wall of the den just to tne left of a second doorway that leaos into the 
kitchen beyond. Both tne desk and bookcase have been painted since they were 
installed but are otherwise intact. Light is admitted to this room through the 
previously mentioned triple window group that replaced -the room's original window 
sometime in the first quarter ot this century.

Tne doorway in the west wall of the den leads into tne main kitchen ot the nouse. 
This L shaped room occupies approximately halt ot the tirst rloor ot the north wing 
and was created after 1929 when the fuli-widtn rectilinear space used tor everyday 
dining by the Harmons that originally maue up tne southernmost tnird ot tnis tloor 
was combined with the original kitchen which occupied the east halt of tne middle 
third. The western half ot tne middle third ot this tloor contains a small room 
called the sewing room, the nortnernmost portion or tne tloor contains a small 
batnroorn and the old summer kitchen of the nouse, which is differentiated trom tne 
other rooms in this wing by having untinisned, roughly cut clapboard covered walls.

xu This was a popular decorator's device in the late 192Us and in the 1930s and it 
was often used on the interior walls of French Provincial style houses of the 
period.
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Just to the left as one enters the kitcnen from the den is a doorway placed in the 
south wall ot the kitcnen. This door opens onto an enclosed staircase that ascends 
to the second floor ot the north wing and the run ot this staircase parallels the 
south wall of the kitchen and terminates in a small, enclosed hall at the top of the 
stairs. A door in the north wall of this hail opens into a large, rectilinear room 
whose steeply sloping ceiling walls echo the shape of the main roof above. This 
room has been used for storage since the Harmon's occupancy and a door in its north 
wall opens into a second and smaller rectilinear room once used as a maid's room 
during the Harmon's period of ownership and now also used for storage .-Li All the 
walls in the upstairs rooms ot the north wing and the walls ot the staircase that 
leads up to them are made ot the same smooth, hard plaster found elsewhere in the 
house and exist in their original raw, unpainted state.

A second doorway located at the opposite end of the soutn waLl of the kitchen opens 
into a four-toot-deep passageway between the kitchen and the formal dining room of 
the house. A doorway on the left (east) side ot this passageway opens onto an 
enclosed stairway that descends to tne casement. On the wan opposite this door is 
a built-in china cupboard designed to serve the dining room. This cupooard dates 
from the Harmon's tenure and has two tali doors having tali, Dasket-nandie-arcned 
panels inset into them placed above two very large drawers.

The last room on the tirst floor ot tne main block is tne formal dining room. Tne 
principal entrance to this room is through the ietc (west) pocket door at the north 
end ot the entrance nail and tnis rectiinear room is approximately Li feet long by 
15 feet wide and it is lit by the large rectilinear bay window which takes up almost 
ail ot the south wall ot the room, and by two pairs of t-'rencri doors on the west side 
ot the room which tianK the tireplace. LiKe the rirepiace in tne living room, tnis 
one has a tall, tlat~arcned opening and the mantelpiece surrounding it is also 
distinctively French in appearance and replaced the earlier mantelpiece in use wnen 
tne Scobie family bought tne. house.^ This example is-made oi a distinctively 
veined blue and white marble and has tapered and fluted pilasters on either side ot 
the opening which support an entablature naving a fluted trieze topped by a cornice 
formed by the mantiesheif; this is then surmounted by a large mirrored overmantel 
framed in wood molding. The wails are covered in a brocade pattern Lincrusta paper 
that was hung in the iy'20s. Otherwise, the room is totally original and has its 
original baseboards and chair rail. The most striking of the original features ot 
the room is the tall built-in china cupboard located towards the south end of the 
east wall. This cupboard reaches almost to the ceiling and it nas two tali, narrow 
doors, each of which has a tail, narrow semi-circular arched glass panel inset into 
it. These doors are enframed by a shouldered architrave surmounted by a tall,

ia- Letter from Mrs. Helen Harmon Taylor to Mrs. Virginia S. Walker. July 20, 1948. 
In the possession of Mrs. Walker.
12 The dining room mantlepiece is engraved with the legend "Made in France" on the 
underside of the mantiesheif.



NFS Form l
(Kev. 8-86)
Wisconsin wora Processor Format
Approved 2/87

United States Department ot the interior 
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET
Nelson F. Beckwith House, Berlin, Green Lake County, Wisconsin
Section number 7_____ Page 7.11

segmental-arched entablature which gives the cupboard an Italianate style 
appearance.

The second floor ot the main Diock is reached by the staircase in the entrance 
hall. The continuation ot the stair rail encircles the open well ot this staircase 
and terminates against the west wall ot the large, rectilinear plan second floor 
hall. At the top of the staircase the west wall of the hall makes a large 90" 
quarter-round turn as this wail joins the tront wail ot the house and a small semi­ 
circular arch niche is set into the curve ot the wail at this point. The second 
floor hail is almost identical in size with the tirst floor nail and is lit by the 
tali paired Frencn windows on the south wall ana Dy a lamp hanging trom the 
celling. The appearance ot tnis hail today is almost identical to the appearance it 
had after being modiiied by the Harmon tamiiy in ibby ana the nail stin contains 
its original baseboards, door surrounds, and crown moldings.

Three paneled doors are placed on the east wail ot tne nail arid the first ana tnira 
doors open into two good-sized bedrooms cnat occupy the nortneast and southeast 
corners ot the tioor. Tne middle ooor 01 trie three is tne entrance to tne staircase 
that leads up to the rooftop cupola, on the north wall ot tne nali is a single 
paneled door that opens into a large bathroom that was originally another, bedroom 
before being converted by the b'cobie family in. 1929. Rectilinear white tiles were 
used to cover tne wails of this room halt way up to the ceiling and these tiles were 
surmounted by a course of small colored tiles placed just below the terminating 
course. The floor was also covered with small square white tiles, a tine pedestal 
sink was installed on the north wall opposite the door, and a sunken tub was 
installed in a tiled recess to the lett ot the door. These changes resulted in a 
room having a distinctive 1920s appearance and it has been well maintained by the 
present owner ot the house.

The west wall of the hall has a single paneled door which opens into the master 
bedroom ot the house. This large rectilinear plan room takes up two-thirds ot the 
length ot the west side of this tioor with the remaining portion being occupied by 
an adjoining trunk room. The walls ot this bedroom, like the walls of the living 
room downstairs, were altered by the Sconie tamiiy in 1929 when thin strips ot wood 
molding were applied to them in such a way as to form large, rectilinear patterns 
suggestive ot the raised molding tound on the simplest wood paneled walls. This 
change gave the room a sense of formality that was then accentuated by the nurniture 
chosen tor the room. Also, unlike the French windows tound in the other rooms on 
this tioor, the tail windows which light the master oedroom are double-hung even 
though they are carried down to tne tioor.

The Beckwith house still retains its original rectilinear corner lot and this lot is 
now enclosed on its east and south sides oy a simple wrougnt iron tence that is set 
in a raised brick base and supported at its ends oy brick piers. This tence was 
added by the Scobie tamiiy in 1929 and they also had the path to the entrance door
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altered at the same time. This resulted in the straight concrete walk which ran 
trom the sidewalk to the tront door being replaced Dy the semi-circular bricK walk 
that is still in place today. The only other change ot note tnat has altered the 
lot was the addition ot a concrete driveway running along the north edge ot trie 
property leading to a tine two-car garage located on the nortnwest corner of the 
lot. Both ot these resources were constructed in tne last years ot the Harmori's 
ownership.-L3 The garage is rectilinear in plan ana is sided in weatherboard and 
its hip root is asphalt shingle-covered and has wide overhanging eaves supported by 
exposed rafter ends. Both the north and south-facing elevations of this building 
have a single triple window group containing three six-over-six light windows 
centered on them, while the seccionai roll-up overhead door that faces east is 
probably a replacement tor the original doors.

The present owner of the Beckwith house, Mrs. Virginia S. Walker, has been 
meticulous in maintaining the building since she ana her late husband acquired it in 
1944 but has otherwise done almost nothing to alter it. As a result, the house 
today still looks remarkably the way it did when occupied by both the Beckwiths and 
the Harmons.

13 The exact date ot the construction ot this garage is unknown but it does not 
appear on the 1911 Sanborn-Perris Company tire insurance map of Berlin and does 
appear on the next (1926) Sanborn-Perris map. A date somewhere between 1911 and 
1926 is also consistent with the general appearance of the building.



jL._Statement ot sign!ticance
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Applicable National Register Criteria 
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(enter categories from instructions) 
Architecture

Significant Person
__________ N/A
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Period ot Significance Significant Dates 
1858-1869______ ___1858 X *____

Cultural Affiliation 
____________JN/A_

Architect/Builder 
Unknown

State significance ot property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and 
areas and periods of significance noted above.

The Nelson V. BecKwith nouse is being nominated to trie National Register ot Historic 
Places (NRHP) for its local significance under National Register (NRj criterion C. 
More specifically, the aecxwith house is oeing nominated because ot its association 
with the area of Architecture; a theme which is also identitiea in the stace ot 
Wisconsin's Cultural Resource Management Flan (CRMP;. Research was undertaken to 
assess the NRHP potential ot cne Beckwith .house utilizing the ureeK Revival style 
and the italiariate style suosections ot tne Architectural styles study unit ot tne 
CRMP. The results ot this research is detailed beiow and confirms that the Beckwitn 
house is locally significant under NR criterion c as a residence wnose design is an 
excellent example of the transition taking place in the middle 1850s from the Greek 
Revival style to the newly fashionable Italianate style. The first owner ot the 
house was Nelson F. Beckwith, a prominent local businessman who moved to Berlin with 
his wite and children from nearby Omro, Wisconsin in tne mid IBbUs. Beckwith 
operated a saw mill in Berlin as he had previously in umro and built his house on 
Huron Street in 18b«. By L c6b2 he was well enough oft tinancially to Duild the 
Beckwith House hotel (extant) three blocks further to the west on Huron Street. 
This building served as Berlin's leading hotel tor nearly a century under a variety 
of different names and kept Beckwith's name alive in Berlin long after the man 
himself had passed from the scene. The Beckwith tamily's residence is located on 
the corner of Huron Street and State Street opposite the city ot Berlin's oldest 
public park and it is one of the most prominent houses in an area which nas been 
Berlin's most elite residential neighborhood since before the Civil War. Berlin is 
tortunate in having a numoer of other excellent examples of Doth the Greek Revival 
and the Italianate styles, most of which are located witmn a few blocks ot the

-1-* Abstract ot Title tor i'/9 East Huron Street,
S. Walker, the current owner of the house.
is Letter from Mrs. Helen Harmon Tayior to Mrs. Virginia S. walker.
1948. In the possession of Mrs. Walker.

X See continuation sheet

in the possession ot Mrs. Virginia

October 3,
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Beckwith house. The Beckwith house is one of the oldest ot these buildings and one 
ot the most intact, and it is also one or tne tew examples in Berlin that 
illustrates the transitional phase between the two styles. In addition, the house 
possesses a largely intact, well maintained and potentially significant interior.

itistoric Context

The city ot Berlin owes its existence to the tact that its site is the location of 
the narrowest part ot the channel ot the upper Fox River tor a number of miles in 
either direction. As a result, this site was chosen in January ot ib4b as the 
crossing point for a road whose route was being surveyed between the city of Fond du 
Lac, located on Lake Winnebago, and the village of Plover, located on the Wisconsin 
River in Portage County just south of the city of Stevens Point. This road, like 
many others of the period, was intended to create an overland linkage between 
several of Wisconsin's inland waterways and reflects the nigh priority the early 
citizens ot Wisconsin gave to the creation and improvement of Wisconsin's water 
transportation routes. Indeed, so great was the importance attached to access to 
transportation—especially to water transportation—that proximity to a 
transportation route was often the single most important factor in establishing the 
location ot a community ana was also a principal determinant in a community's 
subsequent success or failure. Consequently, sites located where land and water 
routes met, as they did at tferiin, were especially prized since they seemed to otter 
a community a double chance for success.

It is hardly surprising that a number ot Wisconsin cities were founded by the men 
who originally surveyed these early transportation routes and were therefore the 
first to recognize tne opportunities tor future settlement some sites contained. 
Such was the case of Berlin, whose site was first seen on January i, l«4b Dy a party 
ot road surveyors consisting ot Nathan H. Strong, Hugn G. Martin, Hiram Barnes, aria 
William Dickey. This same group had explored the sections of the Fox River above 
and below this point the year before and had oecided to claim and settle tne land 
that surrounded tne site ot any suitable river crossing tney found. x * Their taitn 
in the ultimate success ot any site tney might cnoose was Dackea Dy tneir belief in 
the importance ot the proposed development of a ship canal between the Fox and 
Wisconsin Rivers. This canal was designed to facilitate the movement of water 
transport between the Great Lakes and the Mississippi River and its history is 
discussed in the Inland Waterways subsection of the Transportation study unit in the 
CRMP. iV

xb Portrait and Biographical Album ot Green Lake, Marquette and._Waushaga._^ounti^s.. 
Acme Publishing Company, Chicago, Illinois, 1890, Pgs. 234-^36. 
1V Wyatt, Barbara (Ed.). Cjjltjir_aJ_J<ej?j)uxQe^^ Historic 
Preservation Division, State Historical Society of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin, 
1986. Vol. 2, 2-1 (Transportation).
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The territorial and the federal government's involvement in the various canal 
proposals then under discussion must have made the future of any settlement located 
on the Fox River seem all but assured to the men who first saw the eventual site of 
Berlin. Consequently, claims for lands on the east side of the river (the west side 
was still unceded by various Wisconsin Indian tribes) were duly entered and Nathan 
Strong erected a building on his portion in the following year, becoming the first 
permanent citizen of a settlement which originally went by the name of "Strong's 
Landing". Others arrived to join Strong and soon a ferry and later a float bridge 
was built in order to span the river. Strong soon platted his land under the name 
of "Strongsville" and the new community quickly began to benefit from its position 
astride land and water transportation arteries. In 1851 the village voted to rename 
itself "Berlin" and the real growth of the village followed afterwards.

The bridge and road spurred Berlin's growth, for they tunneled the trade from the 
north and west to the city, and in 1849-1850 they were incorporated into an 
important road (the fruition of the original Fond du Lac-to-Plover roadj laid out 
to Stevens Point. Very soon there were stage lines with daily or every-other day 
service from Berlin to Stevens Point, Oshkosh, and Waupaca.

River and rail transportation also tunneled business to Berlin, which became an 
important transfer point. In 1857, after mounting a considerable campaign, Berlin 
businessmen persuaded the Milwaukee and Horicon Railroad to extend its Milwaukee 
branch from Ripon to Berlin, over the next fifty years repeated attempts were 
made ... to extend the line beyond Berlin, which still (1976) is the terminus of 
the line, now the Milwaukee Road.

Boat service ... had brought settlers as well las commerce] to the community from 
an early date. ... Within a few years of the city's founding, regular daily 
steamers ran to and from it to Oshkosh. A great deal of heavy freight was hauled 
by barge, and the Fox also became a part of a government waterway upon which 
millions of dollars were spent for dams and locks and other improvements. ... The 
transportation advantages and commercial potential resulted in phenomenal early 
community growth. The first settlers arrived in 1847 and by 1850 there were 250 
persons in the village. By 1857 there were 2800 and Berlin was incorporated as a 
city." ie

Among those attracted to Berlin by this rapid growth was New ¥ork state native 
Nelson F. Beckwith (1815-?), who arrived in 1857 with his wife and their 
children. 19 Beckwith had first settled in this area in 1847 at the nearby Fox River 
town of Omro, in Winnebago County. His wife was a daughter of David Humes, the

1B Gillett, Lulubelle C. Early Houses in Berlin, Wisconsin. Worzalla Publishing 
Company, Stevens Point, Wisconsin, 1976, Pgs. ix-x.
19 U. S. Census of 1860. Wisconsin, Green Lake County, City of Berlin. See 
dwelling house No. 319, family No. 277, Pg. 35.
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first settler of the Village of Omro. Humes was a resident of Janesville when he 
first saw the future site of the village in 1846. He returned to this site in the 
spring of 1847 and staked a claim to lands along che river and just inland from it, 
then built a log house for his own use, after which he returned to Janesville in 
order to bring back his family. He then set about attracting other settlers to the 
area. At that time all the land to the north and west of the Fox river was covered 
by dense forest and Humes was quick to realize that the new roads then being 
constructed across this land would provide access to this timber. Humes also 
realized that this timber could be transported by either land or water to the Fox 
River where it could be fashioned into lumber by water-powered sawmills and then 
shipped to market—again via the river. Not surprisingly, Humes decided that the 
land he owned should be the focus of this activity. Among those he convinced was 
his son-in-law, Nelson F. Beckwith, who built the first sawmill (non-extant) in the 
new settlement in 1847 in partnership with W. C. Dean. The new firm operated under 
the name of Dean and Beckwith but Beckwith soon became dissatisfied with this 
arrangement ana built his own sawmill (non-extant) on that portion of the riverfront 
owned by his father-in-law. In 1849 Beckwith joined with Joel V. Taylor and Elisha 
Dean to plat the village of Omro, a portion of which was known for many years as 
"Beckwithtown". 20 Beckwith soon built his own house (non-extant) in the Omro and 
although the particulars of his subsequent years there are unknown, he appears to 
have done well in the lumber trade before moving to Berlin with his family in 1857.

The particulars of Beckwith's life in Berlin are scanty but the Property Abstract 
for 179 Huron Street shows that Beckwith purchased his double lots there on June 1, 
1857 and tax rolls show that he built his house on these lots the following year. 
The 1860 U. S. Census listed him as a lumber dealer whose real estate was valued at 
$6000 and whose personal property was valued at $3000--both amounts well in excess 
of the norm in Berlin at that period. Whether or not he still retained his Omro 
holdings at this date or had acquired similar operations after locating in Berlin is 
not known but his stay in his new home was apparently a profitable one; so much so 
that he was able to buy the prominent downtown site of the recently destroyed 
(January 19, I860) Fox River House hotel located on the northwest corner of Huron 
Street and Wisconsin Avenue late in November of 1862.* a Beckwith quickly announced 
plans for the erection of a new and grander hotel building on the site to be named 
the Beckwith House and ground was broken in April of the following year.-'* The 
third and final story of this brick-veneered, rectilinear plan commercial vernacular 
style building was completed by August and the hotel was opened to the public in 
March of 1864. 23 The Beckwith House soon became the pride of the city although

20 Wright, P. M.. omro. Wisconsin: A Brief Sketch of its Past and Present. Pg. 5. 
An undated pamphlet (Ca. 1876) in the collection of the State Historical Society of 
Wisconsin. Note: the author's name is handwritten below the title.
21 Berlin City Courant. December 4, 1862, Pg. 3. 
* 2 Ibid. April 14, 1863, Pg. 3. 
23 Ibid. March 31, 1864, Pg. 3.



NPS Form 10-900a
(Rev. 8-86)
Wisconsin Word Processor Format
Approved 2/87

United States Department of the interior 
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET
Nelson F. Beckwith House, Berlin, Green Lake County, Wisconsin
Section number ______8___ Page 8 . 4

Beckwith himself apparently considered it as an investment property since the 
operation of the hotel itself was always leased to otners during the period of his 
ownership. This ownership continued until August of 1870 when Beckwith sold the 
hotel to Frank F. Flyer, who reopened it as the Flyer House.*"

At the time of the sale Beckwith was not residing in Berlin; he and nis family 
having moved away from the city following the sale of their Huron Street house to 
Mrs. Hester A. Harmon (1822-1930), on April 7, 1869. Mrs. Harmon was the wife of 
Solomon C. Harmon (1818-1887), a native ot New York state who nad just purchased the 
firm of Ruddock and Paimeter which had sawmills located in Berlin and Pittsville. 
Harmon originally came to Wisconsin in 1840 and had purchased and worked a 240 acre 
farm in Waiworth County. He married his wife in 1845 and they lived on the farm 
until 1865 when tney and their son moved to the city of Hacine, where they lived tor 
two years in semiretirement until Harmon purchased trie already mentioned sawmills. 
The Harmons subsequently moved to Berlin and the mills Harmon had purchased became 
the nucleus of the firm ot S. C. Harmon & Son, proprietors of several lumber- 
related business ventures including the Berlin barrel stave factory which Harmon and 
his son established in 1874. is

Solomon Harmon died in Berlin during the month ot July in 1887, at tne age of 70. 
During the years tie spent in Berlin, the city grew steadily in population from 2778 
in 1870 to 4007 in 1885 out the period of greatest growth in the city's history was 
already over. This reflected the structural transformation tnat was then altering 
the business life ot Berlin as the city underwent a transition irom a transportation 
center to a manufacturing town. By the 1880s, the real winners of tne rusn to 
develop Wisconsin's transportation systems were emerging and these cities had 
already begun to supersede less well-placed or financed cities like Berlin as 
regional distribution centers.

The community's I Berlin'si transportation advantages determined the character of 
the early trade, especially before 1872. Until then, tnere was no railroad 
service north arid west or Berlin, which was trie end ot tne j.inc. But that year, a 
competing line to the west was completed, linking Portage and Stevens Point, and 
drawing from Berlin some of its freight traffic. Freignt from outlying

24 Berlin City Courant. August /3, 1870, Pg. 3. During tne years that followed, 
this building was consecutively known as the Flyer House, tne Dunnam House, the 
Woodworth House, the Bellis House, arid the Hotel Whiting. The ouilding still 
survives today although tne interior and portions of the exterior have Deen 
substantially changed. A good overview of the history of the hotel up to 1976 can 
be found in an article entitled "The Story of a Hotel" which was written by Joyce 
Bennett Stemler and published in the August 17, 1976 edition of the Berlin Journal.
25 History of Northern Wisconsin. The Western Historical Company, Chicago, 
Illinois, 1881. Vol. 1, Pg. 356.
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areas was brought by wagon to towns with railroads or, in Berlin's case, 
waterways. For the first fifty years of its existence, the buying, selling, and 
shipping of all sorts of farm products were the most important contributors to 
Berlin's growth. ... Wholesalers in all lines set up warehouses in Berlin. They 
served, among others, the growers who had brought their produce to Berlin, and 
then would return home with goods such as groceries, liquor, hardware, and 
agricultural implements. Retailers, especially druggists and general 
merchandisers, prospered.

Small factories were estaoiished as a demand grew for articles like shingles, 
barrels, boots and shoes, tanned leather, plows, wagons, cigars, woolen goods, 
pumps, and furniture. These could be made locally and in small quantities at a 
profit, in competition with distant, large-scale manufacturers, whose 
transportation costs reduced their pricing advantage. *"

Hester Harmon was 66 years old at the time of her husband's death and she continued 
to live on in the Huron street house tor another 4U years until 1928, when i]l 
health compelled her to move to Milwaukee. She died there on November i, 1930 at 
the age of 108 arid was acknowledged to be the oldest women in Wisconsin at the time 
of her death."'"' Mrs. Harmon also outlived her son, Edward T. Harmon \ i850-l92b j, 
who had died in Milwaukee four years previously at the age of. '/b.^* i. T. Harmon 
had been associated in the lumber industry with his father and remained active in 
related industries until his death at which time he held major interests in tive 
wallpaper mills in Wisconsin and other states. He had also been the president of 
the First National Bank ot Wisconsin Kapids in 1904 and the manager ot the Biron 
paper mill in that city. His mother was an active investor in Doth tnese and other 
enterprises and was reputed to be Berlin's wealthiest woman at the time ot her 
death. She left an estate valued at over $200,000 but her wealth was in sharp 
contrast to the simplicity of her life-style. In her later years she successively 
adopted four young girls as her wards and they lived with her as unpaid companions. 
The last of these companions was a six-year-old orphan of African-American descent 
named Helen who Mrs. Harmon brought to Berlin in the late 1890s and who remained 
until about 1912 when she turned 18. During this time the house was without 
electricity and was also without heat in most ot the rooms. 29

Mrs. Harmon sold the Huron Street house to Mr. and Mrs. Fred C. Scobie in 1929. Mr.
Scobie owned an insurance agency in Berlin which was subsequently purchased by
Llewellyn J. Walker and his wife, Virginia S. Walker, in 1939 and renamed the Walker

26 Gillett, Lulubelie C. Early Houses in Berlin, Wisconsin. Worzalla Publishing 
Company, Stevens Point, Wisconsin, 1976, Pg. xi.
27 Berlin Journal. November 3, 1930, Pg. 1. Obituary of Hester A. Harmon. 
2e The Milwaukee Sentinel. September 13, 1926. obituary ot Edward T. Harmon. 
iy Letter from Mrs. Helen Harmon Taylor to Mrs. Virginia S. Walker. February 7, 
1949. In the possession of Mrs. Walker.
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Agency. On September 4, 1944 the Walkers purchased the Scobie house on Huron Street 
as well, becoming the fourth owners ot this historic Berlin residence. The Walkers 
raised their family in this house and Mrs. Walker, a former member of the University 
of Wisconsin's Boara ot Visitors, continues to live in tne house today, rorty-five 
years after she and her husoand tirst purchased it.

Architecture

The architectural significance ot the Nelson F. Beckwith house lies in its oeing an 
excellent example of a transitional design which incorporates elements that are 
salient characteristics of Doth tne Greek Revival and the Italianate styles. This 
significance is enhanced oy che Highly intiact condition ot Doth tne exterior and the 
interior ot the nouse which permits Doth the similarities as well as the differences 
between the two styles to De readily assessed and evaluated. The original clapboard- 
sided frame construction main block ot tne aecKwitn riouse was Duilt between iab'/ and 
1858 and both its designer and builder are still unknown as of this writing. This 
block was rectilinear in plan with a shallow-pitched hip root surmounted by a square 
cupola. The tour main corners of the block are covered with corner pilasters, the 
main cornice and lesser cornices feature denticulated molding, ana the south-facing 
principal facade is two-bays-wide and two-stories-tali and has an asymmetrically 
placed entrance door having a transom light and sidelights. A number ot these 
specific elements, including "The low-pitched root, classical cornices, doorway with 
transom and sidelights", and the "formal" and "orderly" nature ot its appearance are 
all characteristics of the Greek Revival style that are specifically cited in the 
Greek Revival style subsection of the Architectural styles study unit of the 
CRMP. 30 In addition, the gable-roofed, one-and-a-haif-story-tall Kitchen wing in 
the rear of the house displays tne "Prominent gabies ... framed with heavy moldings" 
and the frieze band windows that are also characteristics of the style. At the same 
time, other elements ot the original main block such as the "Distinctive wide eaves 
with numerous brackets, gently-sloping hipped ... roofs, and ... square cupola atop 
the roof", as well as the "boxy proportions" oi the. whole, are an characteristics 
of the italianate style that are specifically cited in the Italianate style 
subsection ot the Architectural Styles study unit or the

The resulting design is almost equally weighted between the two styles with the more 
flamboyant Italianate style elements Deing largely confined to the cornice and the 
roof ot the main block while the rest of the house displays the more symmetrical 
proportions and the less exuberant details tnat characterize the Greek Revival 
style. The Architectural Styles study units of the CRMP cited above make it clear 
that examples ot both styles are numerous in Wisconsin and note that examples ot the

30 Wyatt, Barbara (Ed.). Cultural Resource Management in Wisconsin. Historic 
Preservation Division, State Historical Society ot Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin, 
1986. Vol. 2, 2-3 (Architecture). 
31 Ibid. Pg. 2-6 (Architecture).



NPS Form 10-900a
(Rev. 8-86)
Wisconsin Word Processor Format
Approved 2/87

United States Department ot the Interior 
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET
Nelson F. Beckwith House, Berlin, Green LaKe County, Wisconsin
Section number __8___ Page 8 . 7

older Greek Revival style were constructed trom 18JU-187U while examples ot the 
later Italianate style were constructed trom the late 1850s througn the late 187Us. 
This places the construction date ot the BecKwith house at the beginning of the 
period when Itaiianate style houses were being built in Wisconsin and may explain 
why there are Italianate style elements in the house's design. 32

Beckwith built his house on the corner across from East side Park, whose site had 
been donated to Berlin by the village rounder, Nathan Strong, alter his death in 
1852. The location ot the park is only tour long blocks from the Fox River. Even 
so, building development was centered close to the river in 1852 and it represented 
something of an act of faith in its own future for the young community to develop a 
park so far from the center ot town. Indeed, the 1867 bird's-eye view of Berlin 
snows that even by that date only six houses (including the Beckwith house) ana a 
church had been built on the streets that encircle the park. Stiil, the tact that 
East Side Park was located on Huron Street, Berlin's principal tnoroughfare, 
guaranteed the eventual success ot the surrounding neighborhood and by the time the 
next bird's-eye view was printed in 189^ this area nad become Benin's "best" 
neighborhood and had acquired its present-day appearance.

The BecKwith nouse was one 01 the first, nouses to oe built in this area, uniy two 
other houses that tront on the parK were built earlier: cne Ezra and nartna Wheeler 
nouse (1854), located at the opposite end of the block trom tne becKwith house at 
i'22 North State Street; and tne Horatio and Harriet Ward house (i«54) Located at 217 
E. Park Avenue. Both of these houses are worthy of note, not only tor their early 
date of construction but because ot tneir design. The Ward nouse is Berlin's best 
example ot the GreeK Revival style wnile tne Wheeler nouse is Berlin's best example 
of the Gothic Revival style and was constructed for the wneelers by Mrs. Wheeler's 
tather, master builder John Ayers, whose own Gothic Revival style-inspired nouse 
(Ca. 1849) is located around the corner at 169 E. ParK .Avenue. JJ

Even though the Ward and Wheeler houses were designed in styles tnat were beginning 
to fall out ot tashion in Berlin and elsewhere in Wisconsin, they helped to 
establish standards of size and quality that future houses built around the park 
would be influenced by. The first of these houses was the residence built by Nelson 
Beckwith three years later in 1857. The sources ot the Itaiianate style influences 
in Beckwith's design are still unknown. Possibly Beckwith became familiar with this 
style through his involvement with the building trades that resulted from his 
sawmill and lumber dealings or the source may have been a pattern booK or his

*'* Buildings combining both Greek Revival and italianate elements can be found in 
many communities in Wisconsin. Another excellent residential example is the Elisha 
Morrow house in Green Bay (345 S. Adams St., BR 81/U8) built in 1857, the same year 
as the Beckwith house.
* J Gillett, Lulubelle C. KjrJxJiQii^.s_.iji_jBerliriJJi.scpjisin. Worzalla Publishing 
Company, Stevens Point, Wisconsin, 1976, Pgs. 7-9, 20-22.
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builder. Whatever the source, the building that resulted is among the earliest 
known residences in Berlin that utilizes elements ot the Italianate style, making 
Beckwith a forerunner in the use of a style that was to be a major influence in tne 
shaping ot tne appearance of ibth century Berlin.

Berlin has an unusually large number of Italianate style residences for a community 
ot its size, and fortunately, most ot these ouiidings still exhibit a high degree of 
integrity. Many of these buildings are also located in the vicinity of the Beckwi.n 
house and provide an excellent context in which the. significance ot Beckwith nouse 
can be appreciated, one of the earliest ot tnese buildings is the excellent DeWi" 
ana Sarah Noyes Benham house (I8b8) located at it>b N. Adams Street. Although bui^: 
of bricK and having fewer Greek Revival style elements than tne BecKwith house, tne 
Benham nouse bears a strong resemblance to its neighbor and even teatures a cupola 
or strikingly similar design. Another residence having a strong family resemoiance 
to the Beckwith house is the Asa Newell nouse (Ibb.-ibbU) located at i'/y N. Adams 
Street. This is also a brick house and it has even tewer Greek Revival elements 
than the Benham nouse r but the general plan ot the nouse and the cupola (now removed 
from the root and used as a gazebo) are very similar to the 18t»7 appearance ot tne 
Beckwith nouse. other outstanding neighoorhood examples ot the Italianate style 
include: the mirror image Horace Miner and Henry Miner houses (18/2) located at 18u 
ana 184 E. Huron Street directly across the street, trom the Beckwith house; tne 
diminutive brick Arthur Johnson house (1872) iocatea at 104 Church Street; ana the 
excellent frame construction Deville L. Harkness house (I87b) located at i6b E. Park 
Avenue and now owned by Mr. Jeffrey Walker, tne son of Mrs. Virginia S. Walker, 
owner of the Beckwith house. 34

In 1869 Solomon Harmon, the second owner ot tne Beckwith nouse, built an addition 
across the west-facing elevation of the main block which had the effect of adding a 
third bay to the main facade, giving the house its present appearance. Harmon also 
added a polygonal bay window to the east-facing elevation. Tnese 1869 additions 
were clearly intended to harmonize with the original design ot the nouse and 
utilized design elements that are either identical to those used on the original 
block or that represent variations on tne same themes, otherwise, the only changes 
subsequent owners have made to the exterior ot the house have been confined to 
altering windows on the rear ot the tirst iioor ot tne main block and on portions ot 
the kitchen wing, adding an exterior chimney on the west side ot tne main block, ana 
increasing the size ot the tront porcn. AS a result, the exterior ot the Beckwith 
house today is virtually identical to its I8b9 appearance and its integrity has been 
enhanced by the excellent maintenance program toilowed by the current owner. The 
house also possesses an interior which, with the exception of tne second floor 
bathroom and the kitcnen, has received mainly cosmetic changes since the major 
additions were made in 1869.

34 Giliett, Lulubelie C. EjrJy._Hpus.ej;_jri.j_Je.r..l.jn^_W.is_c.orjsin. Worzalla Publishing 
Company, Stevens Point, Wisconsin, 19/6, Pgs. 28-42.
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The extent ot any archeoiogicai remains that may exist on this site are unknown at 
the present time. No information was discovered during the course ot this researcn 
that suggests that any previous dwellings or buildings occupied tne site and tne 
date ot the platting ot the neighborhood so soon alter the village was rounded ma.Kes 
it unlikely that any unrecorded buildings would have been present here before the 
Beckwith house was built. 31' No inlormation pertaining to the existence of any 
remains dating from pre-European cultures or from prehistoric periods was discovered 
either. However, if any archeoiogicai remains still exist on this site there is 
some cnance that they are still intact since only a small portion of the house has 
an excavated basement beneath it.

Acme Publishing Company, Chicago, Illinois, 1890, Pg. 245. The plat of the First 
addition was officially tiled in I8bb but was actually platted much earlier.
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